
PLANNING AND ZONING MINUTES 
MINUTES OF THE BENSON PLANNING AND ZONING COMMISSION 

February 4, 2020 
 
 
1.  CALL TO ORDER 
Chair Andrew Abernathy opened the meeting at 7:02pm.  
 
2. PLEDGE 
Chair Andrew Abernathy led the pledge.  
 
3.  ROLL CALL 
Mark Romero, Dennis Bringham, David Lambert, Andrew Abernathy, and G. Tinnie Graves 
were present. A quorum was present. 
 
4.  APPROVAL OF MINUTES 
Commissioner Dennis Bringham motioned to approve the minutes of the  
October 7, 2019 Special Meeting,  
October 30, 2019 Work Session,  
November 14, 2019 Special Meeting and  
December 2, 2019 Regular Meeting. 
Commissioner G. Tinnie Graves seconded.  Motion passed 5-0. 
 
5. PUBLIC HEARING 
GENERAL DEVELOPMENT PLAN AMENDMENT 
Chair Andrew Abernathy opened the public hearing at 7:04pm and called the only speaker.   
 
Ms. Cindy Iverson introduced herself as the owner of the Sahara Motel, located directly across 
the street from the site of the proposed rezoning.  She stated that ingress/egress is a major issue 
since the driveway is across from the motel.  She stated that traffic is already bad and more 
traffic will be worse, with more noise, dust and general congestion on Hwy 80.  She noted that 
with kids waiting for the bus and the RV parks with elderly residents, adding trucks to the 
congested Hwy 80 is not acceptable to the citizens of Benson.  
 
The public hearing closed at 7:05pm.  
 
6. PUBLIC HEARING 
REZONING 
Chair Andrew Abernathy opened the public hearing at 7:06pm and called the first speaker.   
 
Mr. Daniel Arnold, a representative of Turquoise Hills (former golf course), stated that they had 
been dealing with the railroad as neighbors for 7 years and that the railroad are the greatest 
people who keep their word on doing what they say they will do and not doing what they say 
they won’t do.  Mr. Arnold noted he is a commercial developer by profession and feels this 
project would be of benefit to the community and he trusts the railroad’s word to do or not do 
what they say.  He reiterated that they have had a great relationship for 7 years and as a neighbor 
and developer he supports their project.  Mr. Arnold closed by stating the WLB Group 



(railroad’s contracted planning and engineering firms) are fine engineers so he has trust in the 
team the railroad has assembled.  
 
Ms. Cindy Iverson passed when she was called to speak.  
 
Mr. Merlin Hinrichs introduced himself as a homeowner residing on County Club Drive.  He 
noted that the house was purchased in the mid-1990s by his parents and he is now living there.  
He stated that for the period his parents lived in the home, they had to deal with the diesel fumes 
from the railroad.  Mr. Hinrichs commented that the fumes can be thick and neighbors with 
asthma continually have problems, especially during the cold months when the fumes settle on 
the ground.  He noted that there is no way to stop the fumes, but stated he would like the engines 
to move further away, rather than sit where they currently do.  
  
Mr. Hinrichs asked if the City required an environmental impact statement.  Mr. Hinrichs 
thought it should be required due to ground movement and because there have been no studies on 
Hwy 80 or the other developments over the past 20 years.  He noted there have never been any 
issues raised at City Council, but the facilities have been causing negative impacts lately with 
lights and fumes.  He stated the community was built for profit by a prior City Manager and a 
prior City Attorney and now they are willing to let the neighborhood deteriorate for jobs with the 
railroad.  
 
Mr. Hinrichs further stated that the neighborhood had been informed that diesel was being 
offloaded, though the railroad denied it.   He stated that he had spoken with a diesel tank driver 
who said it was only a few tanks but ammonia nitrate and diesel fumes could explode and be 
dangerous to the community.  Mr. Hinrichs stated things like this need to be considered with the 
homes and housing units around if fuel tankers will be flying up and crashing down when 
exploding.  He requested more investigation and closed by commenting that trucks have 
destroyed the road.  
 
Mrs. Ruth Wilson introduced herself as having lived on Country Club Drive for 44 years.  She 
stated that there are many trucks going up and down the street carrying fuel and diesel. She said 
her husband was unable to go outside because of the fumes and that the street isn’t made for 
trucks.  Mrs. Wilson commented that if there are tankers behind the houses, they will be in 
someone’s backyard and will have lights and metal banging noise when transferring cargo.  She 
believes it will be dangerous to have diesel trucks going up and down the street.  Mrs. Wilson 
also stated that property values will be lowered and that these are peoples’ homes- people with 
kids and a woman on oxygen who has to raise the level because she can’t breathe.  Mrs. Wilson 
stated the railroad keeps getting bigger and bigger and will take over the whole area.  She stated 
it was bad enough when the city wanted to put in a prison, but now with trucks and people 
unloading and dust and dirt, its people’s health and peace of mind involved. She stated that with 
lights the neighborhood won’t be able to enjoy their backyards or enjoy the outdoors.  She closed 
by stating the City needs to rethink this proposal and have the railroad move it somewhere else, 
perhaps the golf course.  
 
The public hearing closed at 7:18pm.  
 
7. OLD BUSINESS: None 



8. NEW BUSINESS 
Consideration and Possible Action: GENERAL DEVELOPMENT PLAN AMENDMENT 
Chair Andrew Abernathy invited the applicant to speak.   
 
Robert Longaker, AICP introduced himself as the planning consultant from WLB Group.  He 
introduced Hildeberto Moreno and Aaron Lovelady from Ironhorse Resources.  Mr. Longaker 
said they were excited about the project and think it will be good for Benson by providing jobs 
and economic development opportunities. He noted that the plan provides buffers for the existing 
uses, particularly on the north side against the existing neighborhood. Mr. Longaker stated a 
buffer was one of the conditions defined by staff and with a few exceptions they agree with staff 
recommendations.  
 
Mr. Longaker then reviewed the conditions recommended by staff for the General Plan and 
rezoning. 
1.  Ironhorse had proposed a 75’ buffer along the north of the property, staff recommended 100’ 
buffer.  Mr. Longaker stated Ironhorse is standing by their offer of 75 feet. 
2. Staff had recommended a 20’ buffer around the existing business parcels fronting Hwy 80.  
Prior to the meeting Ironhorse proposed 10’ but was willing to compromise with a 15’ setback 
with no materials or usage within the setback, rather than a buffer. 
3. Staff recommended a designating an area for a bus stop, since it is known that the school bus 
picks up and drops off at Heartleaf Lane.  Ironhorse agreed with recommendation and will create 
a designated bus stop. 
4. Staff had recommended a sunset clause of 8 years.  Ironhorse requested 12 years.  
 
Mr. Longaker then replied to several of the comments heard during the public hearings.  In 
response to the comment about soil conditions, he noted that the next step in the development 
process is to create improvement plans and a geotechnical report will be part of that process.  If 
there are any potential issues, that report would provide recommendations to minimize them.  
Regarding traffic, Mr. Longaker noted that a traffic impact analysis is the document which 
determines the volume of traffic generated and makes recommendations about the surrounding 
streets’ ability to handle that volume.  
 
Mr. Aaron Lovelady, General Manager, introduced himself and gave a brief explanation of their 
operations. He noted regular hours are between 8am and 4pm, though they currently have a 
temporary transloading site within their existing operations.  He noted the existing site and the 
temporary transloading are not affiliated with Country Club Drive or the property under 
consideration for rezoning.  He stated there is very limited truck traffic on Country Club, maybe 
1 or 2 every few month because trucks regularly use the entrance directly off Hwy 80 and there 
are no transload operations off Country Club. Mr. Lovelady acknowledged there isn’t a firm plan 
for the property, until they know how much they think they can expand their operations, but 
whatever the end result, it will not involve Country Club Drive. 
 
Commissioner Dennis Bringham motioned to recommend the General Development Plan with 
conditions. Planner Michelle Johnson asked if he meant the conditions are written by staff or as 
suggested by the applicant. She explained that her recommendations were written based on what 



she had heard in the Citizen Review Session and Ironhorse had recently responded with their 
own suggestions.  
 
Chair Andrew Abernathy said he prefer a buffer around the commercial properties on Hwy 80, 
not a setback since a setback can have encroachments, noting the I-1 zoning district is the most 
intense use.  He stated that the existing commercial uses and the residential uses to the north 
need to be provided with as much isolation as they can.  He stated that as a community member 
and as part of the Commission he’d rather have more assurance that there will be a no-
development zone.  Mr. Longaker replied that Ironhorse will accept a buffer instead of a setback.   
 
Chair Andrew Abernathy asked Mr. Longaker about the 75’ northern buffer, asking if he knew 
the depth of the residential parcels.  Mr. Longaker replied they are just over 100’, approximately 
116’ deep. Chair Andrew Abernathy stated he thinks the railroad should give the neighbors the 
benefit of the lot depth and thinks it should be at least 100’.  Mr. Longaker agreed that 100’ 
buffer would be acceptable.  
 
Mr. Phil Holley, owner of Benson Autobody on Hwy 80, interjected that they have no problem 
with the railroad using the property and proposed because they have been a good neighbor.   
 
Chair Andrew Abernathy asked how the new site will offload.  Robert Longaker replied that a 
new short line will be constructed.  When asked about how many tracks it will have, Aaron 
Lovelady replied it will only be 1 track.  Andrew Abernathy noted that the map showed the new 
line and the transload and storage uses on the northern half of the parcel; he asked about 
potential uses for the southern half.  Hildeberto Moreno, Director of Land Development for 
Ironhorse, replied that there are no uses yet, but the land will be held for the future if needed.  
Andrew Abernathy then asked about the uses close to or adjacent with Hwy 80, to which Mr. 
Moreno replied that he doesn’t expect any use any time soon adjacent to Hwy 80 because their 
work on the transloading has to be near the rail, which is at the rear of the parcel.  
 
A spectator in the audience commented that ADOT will have to get involved at some point 
regarding road traffic and dust control.  Chair Andrew Abernathy acknowledged that ADOT 
would get involved with those issues at some point.  Resident Merlin Hinrichs asked about the 
wash located on the property.  Andrew Abernathy acknowledged his comment and replied that 
physical constraints will be dealt with at the next phase. He stated that this phase deals with the 
question of if there could be this particular use on the parcel, but how it gets done is a later step. 
 
Commissioner Dennis Bringham addressed Merlin Hinrichs and Ruth Wilson’s comments, 
noting that they appear to be talking about activities that are occurring on another piece of 
property, which does not affect this property in question.  He said he could understand their 
frustration with things not being done.  Commissioner Bringham stated he fully supports a 100’ 
buffer, or something equivalent to the lot depth, from the residential neighborhood to the north.   
 
Commissioner David Lambert commented that Hwy 80 is a 2-lane road, with a lot of accidents. 
He noted that visibility is good in both directions, but cars still pull out and the turn lane is often 
used as a speed-up lane.  He agreed that the amount dust will increase and that there will be an 
increase in traffic on Hwy 80 as trucks turn into and out of the site, commenting that the 



Commissioners should consider these concerns.  He asked about putting in a turn lane, at the 
expense of the property owner, to allow trucks to slow down off the highway lane.   
 
Commissioner David Lambert then asked about the lights currently on at night, stating they are 
on late at night, not between the 8-4 business hours.  Aaron Lovelady replied that they are an 
exception and are temporary to complete a job.  Commissioners Lambert stated he’s blinded 
when he drives out of his house and requested they be turned down. Hildeberto Moreno replied 
that the border fence job, which is what the lights are for, is almost complete and should be 
finished in the next 2 months. 
 
Commissioner David Lambert commented about the traffic coming out of the existing 
businesses- the vet and the autobody shop, the motel and the RV parks, stating that he believes 
more truck traffic will increase congestion and cause more accidents.  He stated he doesn’t want 
the railroad to use Country Club Drive due to degradation and that he understands they will 
mainly be using Heartleaf Lane.  Aaron Lovelady again reiterated that there are no firm site 
plans for the property, but they will be using Heartleaf Lane, not Country Club.  Commissioner 
Dave Lambert closed by stating the Commission is not the approving authority, City Council is, 
but he did not like where the project was at.   
 
Commissioner Dennis Brigham motioned to recommend approval of the General Development 
Plan amendment from Business to Industrial with a sunset clause.  Planner Michelle Johnson 
asked if he was recommending the 8 years he had proposed or the 12 years Ironhorse asked for.  
She explained that the last rezoning, a residential rezoning, had a sunset clause of 7 years and the 
second step, the subdivision plat, often have a sunset clause of 10 year potentially providing a 
total time of 17 before any dirt was moved.  She said she selected 8 years because it was 
approximately half that length of time.  Commissioner Dennis Bringham stated 12 years and 
amended his motion, recommended approval of the General Development Plan amendment from 
Business to Industrial with a sunset clause of 12 years.  Commissioner Mark Romero stated he 
agreed with 12 years.  Chair Andrew Abernathy seconded the motion.  Motion passed 5-0. 
 
 
8. NEW BUSINESS 
Consideration and Possible Action: REZONING 
Mr. Robert Longaker of WLB Group stated he believed they had covered most of the issues, but 
he’d be happy to entertain additional questions.  
 
Chair Andrew Abernathy asked if the railroad had any idea of the amount of traffic they would 
generate.  Hildeberto Moreno replied that a typical ratio is 4 trucks to 1 railcar.  He said they 
currently receive 1500 railcars annually which is 6000 trucks.  He noted that much of the traffic 
is seasonal and ends in April.  When asked about Apache Nitrogen and other freight, Mr. Aaron 
Lovelady responded that Apache traffic does not stop for transloading, but goes straight through 
to their site while CTI and the border fence use their site.  He stated that last year there were 
1200 railcars of which 800 went to Apache and off loaded there.  Chair Andrew Abernathy noted 
they had far fewer than 1000 cars being offloaded; Aaron Lovelady stated they offloaded about 
325.   Hildeberto Moreno noted that the border fence is supposed to end in the next few months.  
 



Chair Andrew Abernathy stated that the current volume can provide an idea of what might 
happen in the future on the new site with more or different clients.  Aaron Lovelady stated that if 
they duplicate what they are doing now, it would be around 150-300 railcars per year on the new 
site.   
 
Resident Cindy Iverson interjected that if there are 1000 railcars that is 4000 trucks per year, 
which is 12 trucks per day.  Hildeberto again stated that approximately 800 cars to go Apache 
annually.  Another resident asked why the railroad isn’t expanding next to Apache, why they are 
doing this right next to people and the area where they retire.  Chair Andrew Abernathy 
reminded the public that they had their time to talk.   
 
Chair Andrew Abernathy then asked if the railroad was thinking about how they will improve 
Heartleaf Lane.  Hildeberto Moreno replied that they were not thinking about design until they 
know they can use the land.  Andrew Abernathy asked if they would maintain traffic across the 
tracks to which Hildeberto Moreno replied in the affirmative.  Robert Longaker also noted there 
is a dedicated easement for Heartleaf Lane and any new road would be granted a new easement. 
 
Commissioner Dennis motioned to recommended approval of the rezoning with the following 
conditions:   100 foot buffer from the northern property boundary (boundary with the existing 
residential neighborhood); 20 foot buffer from the commercial properties fronting Hwy 80; a bus 
stop and a sunset clause of 12 years.  Commissioner G. Tinnie Graves seconded.  Motion passed 
5-0. 
 
Commission Mark Romero motioned to adjourn the meeting.  Chair Andrew Abernathy 
seconded.  Motion passed 5-0 and the meeting closed at 7:53pm 
 


